
Gang der Grabung: 
Auszüge aus Zaki Y. Saad’s „Diary on the excavation 

of the Department of Antiquities at Helwan“

 1 October 1948: Workmen delegated from Saqqara, arrived in the afternoon.
 2 October 1948: Started removing the rails and decavville from the I Dynasty site to 

the site intended for the excavations to the west of Helwan Les Bain, as the Department 
of Antiquities wants, to decide either to keep the ground or deliver it to the man who 
purchased it from the government. The camp was built by the tents borrowed from Char-
les Bachatly Effendi, General Secretary of the Society of Coptic Archaeology.

 3 October 1948: Rails were laid down and preparations finished.
 4 October 1948: A patch of the site was cleared. A corner of mud-brick building was 

revealed8. Two rooms were partly located9.
 5 October 1948: The two rooms were nearly entirely excavated. The outer walls in the 

north and west are about 200 cms thick. The rooms from inside are plastered with colou-
red gypsum. The colour is faded pink. A third room to the east of the room (north-west) 
was located10. To the south of it a forth room was located11. Fragments of glass and pottery 
have been found. The walls between the chambers are with closed windows (niches).

 6 October 1948: The clearance of this part yielded a group of two chambers to the 
north (Fig. 1), probably a small passage? And to the south a big hall.

10 October 1948: More rooms have been discovered in one line to the east of the first 
room. To the south of this line is a big hall (?)12. The rooms have closed windows in the 
walls (niches). Room 1 has two, one in the west wall and another in the north wall. A door 
in the east wall from the south as a communication with the rooms to the east. Room 3 has 
two niches on the west wall and one niche in each of the north and south walls. To the west 
is a wide entrance with two jambs on each side decorated with semi-columns (Fig. 2)13.

17 October 1948: Work on the big building yielded more rooms.
18 October 1948: Plenty of glass fragments and pottery have been found. A piece of 

white limestone was found in the hall. It is not yet cleaned to be properly examined.
19 October 1948: The number of rooms discovered is twelve. All in one line, some have 

doors opening to the north while others open to the hall (court).
20 October 1948: The buildings are one line of chambers differ in size and all on the 

north.
21 October 1948: We cleared the east-north part which contains some chambers14.
24 October 1948: We are clearing the east part.
27 October 1948: We are clearing the part to the south of the chambers on the north and 

to the west of the chambers on the east. It is a court.

8 Nordwestecke der Bauanlage B.
9 Hier die Räume 14 und 15 der Bauanlage B (Faltpl. 3).
10 Hier Raum 13.
11 Hier Raum 12.
12 Später als Hof erkannt, s. Eintragung unter dem 27. Oktober.
13 Maße nach M. A. M. RaslaN.
14 Hier die Räume 32–33.
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28 October 1948: A photograph was taken for some of the buildings. The clearance of 
the court going on.

30 October 1948: The sand filling the court is huge and we are working with shovels 
to remove it.

 1 November 1948: The Director General Mr. Drioton and the General Secretary of 
the Department visited the site in the morning.

 4 November 1948: About twelve coin pieces of copper were cleaned and found to be 
of Arabic character.

 5 November 1948: Dr. Mustapha of the Arabic Museum of Cairo gave me a note 
about the coins. He says that they were in the name of Mohammed ibn Said who governed 
Egypt about 152 H. (= 769 n. Chr.)15 in the time of the Abassides under the Khalif El-
Mansur ben Allah 775).

 6 November 1948: Work going on. I carried twelve of the coins to be presented to 
H. M. the king Farouk and H. M. kept two pieces and send back the rest.

10 November 1948: In the debris was found a piece of the plaster of the wall on which 
a cross is designed including some Coptic letters. It was photographed (Photo no. 368). A 
pottery lamp was found in the debris. It shows some designs of Coptic feature: Christ and 
below two birds.

11 November 1948: Clearance of the chambers to the west going on. In the debris was 
found a piece of plaster with Coptic inscriptions (photo 369).

14 November 1948: The entrance to the building was situated on the west16. The two 
pieces of plaster (see above 10 and 11 November) came from this place.

16 November 1948: The court is cleared except a small part.
17 November 1948: Clearance of the chambers and court going on.
20 November 1948: In the floor of some of the chambers some late burials were found.
22 November 1948: We have arrived to the end of the west line of the chambers17.
24 November 1948: In the debris some pieces of copper (to be cleaned) and a cross were 

found (Fig. 3).
27 November 1948: Cleaning the court in the middle. The two coins (see above Nov. 6.) 

were send to me from the office of Pulley Bey after H. M. has seen them. These two coin 
pieces were examined by Professor M. Jungfleisch the expert and a report was enclosed18.

28 November 1948: The cross was cleaned and a coin was cleaned and found of silver. 
(photographed). 

30 November 1948: A drain was found in the court. It ends with a head of a lion made 
of limestone19. It was photographed (photo no. 257).

15 MuÎammad ibn Sa‘īd, der Sekretär, war als Gouverneur von Ägypten von 768–774 n. Chr. im Amt, 
s. Al-Tabari, The early ‘Abbasi Empire, vol. I, transl. by J. A. williams (Cambridge 1988) 218–230.

16 Hier die Räume 1 und 2.
17 Hier die Räume 55 und 56.
18 Dieser Report ist nicht mehr auffindbar.
19 Es handelt sich hierbei offensichtlich um eine voreilige, später nicht richtiggestellte Deutung eines 

zunächst unvollständig freigelegten Befundes, denn der genannte Löwenkopfspeier gehört zu den 
Ausflüssen des großen Beckens auf der Westseite des Hofes (s. die folgende Notiz vom 4. Dezember 
1948), während die genannte „drain“ nur zufällig in Richtung zu diesem Becken verläuft; jedoch 
kann sie gut eine Abflußleitung aus diesem Becken sein, nicht ein Zufluß, wie Z. saad unter dem 4. 
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22 January 1949: Clearing the middle part of the building. It is deeper than the surface.
23 January 1949: In the western wall, near the north side, a hole was found. In it is 

placed a pottery pipe going down. By the foot of the wall was found an opening out of 
which the water goes out33. Clearing this place we found the place built with mud-bricks34 
and a small rectangular hole cut in the soft rock (Fig. 8). Studying this piece and comparing 
it with the other on the east-north wall35, one judges that both of these holes fitted with 
pottery were to let the rain get down from the roof to the ground.

24 January 1949: Two benches (mastabas) were found built against the west wall. One 
built to the north of the gate while the other is to the south. Work going on in the other 
building.

25 January 1949: We completed the clearance of the drain to its end in the west. The 
part in the big building which was found dug deep was emptied. To the south of it traces 
of the pavement show that water was kept or as a drain (not clear).

26 January 1949: The building is still not yet finished.
27 January 1949: Another depression was found near the west part.
30 January 1949: Clearing the chambers.
31 January 1949: The depression was cleared. It is of unknown feature.

 1 February 1949: Still carrying on with the clearance of the chambers.
 4 February 1949: Some of the chambers are semi-circular in form like those in the 

other monastery36.
 8 February 1949: The building seems to have been for different dwellings. A group of 

chambers is very interesting for the way of its building. It has a middle door that leads to a 
hall. To the right and left are two semi-circular chambers and in front of the hall is a third 
chamber in the same way37 (Fig. 9).

 9 February 1949: The clearance is going on. A part of a white limestone column was 
found in a pit. It is the lowest part of the column.

10 February 1949: The south of the building ends with a draining canal but not deep and 
does not resemble the draining system of the convent. The clearance of the part to the east 
of the semi-circular chambers is a big chamber ending on the east with a semicircle38 like the 
previous ones. The work is on the east part of the building outside the chambers (Fig. 10).

12 February 1949: The work stopped on this big house.
13 February 1949: Work going on in the drains to the east of the house.
14 February 1949: Work is on the high mound to the south.
15 February 1949: M. Drioton and Rostom Bey visited the site.
16 February 1949: Closing down. Clearing the tombs in the grave yard of the mona-

stery39. 15 intact tombs were all we found out of 36 tombs. They contained nothing exept 

33 Nach dem Photo (Taf. 12a) bezieht sich diese Bemerkung auf eine Stelle in der Außenwand von 
Raum 12 der Bauanlage B. Eine Maßskizze von M. A. M. RaslaN liegt für diese Abflußleitung nicht 
vor.

34 Nach dem Photo (Taf. 12a) handelt es sich hierbei um Brandziegel.
35 s. o. unter dem 29. Dezember 1948.
36 Es handelt sich hierbei um den Trikonchos der Bauanlage A.
37 s. vorige Anm.
38 Es handelt sich hierbei um die Kirche der Bauanlage A.
39 Kein Hinweis über die Lage, s. dazu die folgende Anm.

      






